
WHISTLEBLOWER PROVISIONS IN DOL–ADMINISTERED 

ENVIRONMENTAL STATUTES  

 

Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act (AHERA) 

15 U.S.C. §2651. Public protection. 

(a) PUBLIC PROTECTION. No State or local educational agency may discriminate against a 

person in any way, including firing a person who is an employee, because the person provided 

information relating to a potential violation of this title to any other person, including a State or 

the Federal Government. 

(b) LABOR DEPARTMENT REVIEW. Any public or private employee or representative of 

employees who believes he or she has been fired or otherwise discriminated against in violation 

of subsection (a) may within 90 days after the alleged violation occurs apply to the Secretary of 

Labor for a review of the firing or alleged discrimination. The review shall be conducted in 

accordance with section 660(c) of Title 29. 

 

Clean Air Act 

42 U.S.C. §7622. Employee protection. 

(a) Discharge or discrimination prohibited. No employer may discharge any employee or 

otherwise discriminate against any employee with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment because the employee (or any person acting pursuant to a request 

of the employee)- 

(1) commenced, caused to be commenced, or is about to commence or cause to be commenced 

a proceeding under this Act or a proceeding for the administration or enforcement of any 

requirement imposed under this Act or under any applicable implementation plan, 

(2) testified or is about to testify in any such proceeding, or 

(3) assisted or participated or is about to assist or participate in any manner in such a proceeding 

or in any other action to carry out the purposes of this Act. 

 

(b) Complaint charging unlawful discharge or discrimination; investigation; order. 

(1) Any employee who believes that he has been discharged or otherwise discriminated against 

by any person in violation of subsection (a) may, within thirty days after such violation occurs, 

file (or have any person file on his behalf a complaint with the Secretary of Labor (hereinafter in 

this subsection referred to as the "Secretary") alleging such discharge or discrimination. Upon 

receipt of such a complaint, the Secretary shall notify the person named in the complaint of the 

filing of the complaint. (2) 

(A) Upon receipt of a complaint filed under paragraph (1), the Secretary shall conduct an 

investigation of the violation alleged in the complaint. Within thirty days of the receipt of such 

complaint, the Secretary shall complete such investigation and shall notify in writing the 



complainant (and any person acting in his behalf) and the person alleged to have committed 

such violation of the results of the investigation conducted pursuant to this subparagraph. Within 

ninety days of the receipt of such complaint the Secretary shall, unless the proceeding on the 

complaint is terminated by the Secretary on the basis of a settlement entered into by the 

Secretary and the person alleged to have committed such violation, issue an order either 

providing the relief prescribed by subparagraph (B) or denying the complaint. An order of the 

Secretary shall be made on the record after notice and opportunity for public hearing. The 

Secretary may not enter into a settlement terminating a proceeding on a complaint without the 

participation and consent of the complainant. 

(B) If, in response to a complaint filed under paragraph (1), the Secretary determines that a 

violation of subsection (a) has occurred, the Secretary shall order the person who committed 

such violation to 

(i) take affirmative action to abate the violation, and 

(ii) reinstate the complainant to his former position together with the compensation (including 

back pay), terms, conditions, and privileges of his employment, and the Secretary may order 

such person to provide compensatory damages to the complainant. If an order is issued under 

this paragraph, the Secretary, at the request of the complainant, shall assess against the person 

against whom the order is issued a sum equal to the aggregate amount of all costs and expenses 

(including attorneys' and expert witness fees) reasonably incurred, as determined by the 

Secretary, by the complainant for, or in connection with, the bringing of the complaint upon 

which the order was issued. 

(c) Review. 

(1) Any person adversely affected or aggrieved by an order issued under subsection (b) may 

obtain review of the order in the United States court of appeals for the circuit in which the 

violation, with respect to which the order was issued, allegedly occurred. The petition for review 

must be filed within sixty days from the issuance of the Secretary's order. Review shall conform 

to chapter 7 of title 5 of the United States Code [5 USCS §701 et seq.]. The commencement of 

proceedings under this subparagraph shall not, unless ordered by the court, operate as a stay of 

the Secretary's order. 

(2) An order of the Secretary with respect to which review could have been obtained under 

paragraph (1) shall not be subject to judicial review in any criminal or other civil proceeding. 

(d) Enforcement of order by Secretary. Whenever a person has failed to comply with an order 

issued under subsection (b)(2), the Secretary may file a civil action in the United States district 

court for the district in which the violation was found to occur to enforce such order. In actions 

brought under this subsection, the district courts shall have jurisdiction to grant all appropriate 

relief including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, compensatory, and exemplary damages. 

(e) Enforcement of order by person on whose behalf order was issued. 

(1) Any person on whose behalf an order was issued under paragraph (2) of subsection (b) may 

commence a civil action against the person to whom such order was issued to require compliance 

with such order. The appropriate United States district court shall have jurisdiction, without 

regard to the amount in controversy or the citizenship of the parties, to enforce such order. 



(2) The court, in issuing any final order under this subsection, may award costs of litigation 

(including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) to any party whenever the court 

determines such award is appropriate. 

(f) Mandamus. Any nondiscretionary duty imposed by this section shall be enforceable in a 

mandamus proceeding brought under section 1361 of title 28 of the United States Code. 

(g) Deliberate violation by employee. Subsection (a) shall not apply with respect to any employee 

who, acting without direction from his employer (or the employer's agent), deliberately causes a 

violation of any requirement of this Act. 

 

 

Comprehensive Environmental Response,Compensation, and Liability Act 

(CERCLA) or “Superfund” 

42 U.S.C. §9610. Employee protection. 

(a) Activities of employee subject to protection. No person shall fire or in any other way 

discriminate against, or cause to be fired or discriminated against any employee or any 

authorized representative of employees by reason of the fact that such employee or 

representative has provided information to a State or to the Federal Government, filed, instituted, 

or caused to be filed or instituted any proceeding under this Act, or has testified or is about to 

testify in any proceeding resulting from the administration or enforcement of the provisions of 

this Act. 

(b) Administrative grievance procedure in cases of alleged violations. Any employee or a 

representative of employees who believes that he has been fired or otherwise discriminated 

against by any person in violation of subsection (a) of this section may, within thirty days after 

such alleged violation occurs, apply to the Secretary of Labor for a review of such firing or 

alleged discrimination. A copy of the application shall be sent to such person, who shall be the 

respondent. Upon receipt of such application. the Secretary of Labor shall cause such 

investigation to be made as he deems appropriate. Such investigation shall provide an 

opportunity for a public hearing at the request of any party to such review to enable the parties 

to present information relating to such alleged violation. The parties shall be given written notice 

of the time and place of the hearing at least five days prior to the hearing. Any such hearing shall 

be of record and shall be subject to section 554 of title 5, United States Code. Upon receiving the 

report of such investigation, the Secretary of Labor shall make findings of fact. If he finds that 

such violation did occur, he shall issue a decision incorporating an order therein and his findings, 

requiring the party committing such violation to take such affirmative action to abate the 

violation as the Secretary of Labor deems appropriate, including. but not limited to, the rehiring 

or reinstatement of the employee or representative of employees to his former position with 

compensation. If he finds that there was no such violation, he shall issue an order denying the 

application. Such order issued by the Secretary of Labor under this subparagraph shall be subject 

to judicial review in the same manner as orders and decisions are subject to judicial review under 

this Act. 



(c) Assessment of costs and expenses against violator subsequent to issuance of order of 

abatement. Whenever an order is issued under this section to abate such violation, at the request 

of the applicant a sum equal to the aggregate amount of all costs and expenses (including the 

attorney's fees) determined by the Secretary of Labor to have been reasonably incurred by the 

applicant for, or in connection with, the institution and prosecution of such proceedings, shall be 

assessed against the person committing such violation. 

(d) Defenses. This section shall have no application to any employee who acting without 

discretion from his employer (or his agent) deliberately violates any requirement of this Act. 

(e) Presidential evaluations of potential loss of shifts of employment resulting from administration 

or enforcement of provisions; investigations; procedures applicable, etc. The President shall 

conduct continuing evaluations of potential loss of shifts of employment which may result from 

the administration or enforcement of the provisions of this Act, including, where appropriate, 

investigating threatened plant closures or reductions in employment allegedly resulting from such 

administration or enforcement. Any employee who is discharged, or laid off, threatened with 

discharge or layoff, or otherwise discriminated against by any person because of the alleged 

results of such administration or enforcement, or any representative of such employee, may 

request the President to conduct a full investigation of the matter and, at the request of any 

party, shall hold public hearings, require the parties, including the employer involved, to present 

information relating to the actual or potential effect of such administration or enforcement on 

employment and any alleged discharge, layoff, or other discrimination, and the detailed reasons 

or justification therefore. Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be subject to section 554 

of title 5, United States Code. Upon receiving the report of such investigation, the President shall 

make findings of fact as to the effect of such administration or enforcement on employment and 

on the alleged discharge, layoff, or discrimination and shall make such recommendations as he 

deems appropriate. Such report, findings, and recommendations shall be available to the public. 

Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to require or authorize the President or any State to 

modify or withdraw any action, standard, limitation, or any other requirement of this Act. 

 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments (FWPCA) or Clean Water Act 

33 U.S.C. §1367. Employee protection. 

(a) Discrimination against persons filing, instituting, or testifying in proceedings under this 

chapter prohibited. No person shall fire, or in any other way discriminate against, or cause to be 

fired or discriminated against, any employee or any authorized representative of employees by 

reason of the fact that such employee or representative has filed, instituted, or caused to be filed 

or instituted any proceeding under this Act, or has testified or is about to testify in any 

proceeding resulting from the administration or enforcement of the provisions of this Act. 

(b) Application for review; investigation; hearing; review. Any employee or a representative of 

employees who believes that he has been fired or otherwise discriminated against by any person 

in violation of subsection (a) of this section may, within thirty days after such alleged violation 

occurs, apply to the Secretary of Labor for a review of such firing, or alleged discrimination. A 

copy of the application shall be sent to such person who shall be the respondent. Upon receipt of 

such application, the Secretary of Labor shall cause such investigation to be made as he deems 



appropriate. Such investigation shall provide an opportunity for a public hearing at the request of 

any party to such review to enable the parties to present information relating to such alleged 

violation. The parties shall be given written notice of the time and place of the hearing at least 

five days prior to the hearing. Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be subject to section 

554 of title 5 of the United States Code [5 USCS §554]. Upon receiving the report of such 

investigation, the Secretary of Labor shall make findings of fact. If he finds that such violation did 

occur, he shall issue a decision, incorporating an order therein and his findings, requiring the 

party committing such violation to take such affirmative action to abate the violation as the 

Secretary of Labor deems appropriate, including, but not limited to, the rehiring or reinstatement 

of the employee or representative of employees to his former position with compensation. If he 

finds that there was no such violation, he shall issue an order denying the application. Such order 

issued by the Secretary of Labor under this subparagraph shall be subject to judicial review in the 

same manner as orders and decisions of the Administrator are subject to judicial review under 

this Act. 

(c) Costs and expenses. Whenever an order is issued under this section to abate such violation, 

at the request of the applicant, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of all costs and expenses 

(including the attorney's fees), as determined by the Secretary of Labor, to have been reasonably 

incurred by the applicant for, or in connection with, the institution and prosecution of such 

proceedings, shall be assessed against the person committing such violation. 

(d) Deliberate violations by employee acting without direction from his employer or his agent. 

This section shall have no application to any employee who, acting without direction from his 

employer (or his agent) deliberately violates any prohibition of effluent limitation or other 

limitation under section 301 or 302 of this Act [33 USCS §1311 or 1312], standards of 

performance under section 306 of this Act [33 USCS §1316], effluent standards, prohibition or 

pretreatment standard under this section 307 of this Act [33 USCS §1317], or any other 

prohibition or limitation established under this Act. 

(e) Investigations of employment reductions. The Administrator shall conduct continuing 

evaluations of potential loss or shifts of employment which may result from the issuance of any 

effluent limitation or order under this Act, including, where appropriate, investigating threatened 

plant closures or reductions in employment allegedly resulting from such limitation or order. Any 

employee who is discharged or laid off, threatened with discharge or layoff, or otherwise 

discriminated against by any person because of the alleged results of any effluent limitation or 

order issued under this Act, or any representative of such employee, may request the 

Administrator to conduct a full investigation of the matter. The Administrator shall thereupon 

investigate the matter and, at the request of any party, shall hold public hearings on not less 

than five days notice, and shall at such hearings require the parties, including the employer 

involved, to present information relating to the actual or potential effect of such limitation or 

order on employment and on any alleged discharge, layoffs or other discrimination and the 

detailed reasons or justification therefore. Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be 

subject to section 554 of title 5 of the United States Code [5 USCS §554]. Upon receiving the 

report of such investigation, the Administrator shall make findings of fact as to the effect of such 

effluent limitation or order on employment and on the alleged discharge, layoffs or discrimination 

and shall make such recommendations as he deems appropriate. Such report, findings, and 



recommendations shall be available to the public. Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to 

require or authorize the Administrator to modify or withdraw any effluent limitation or order 

issued under this Act. (June 30, 1948, ch 758, Title V, §507, as added, Oct. 18, 1972, P. L. 92-

500, §2, 86 Stat. 890.) 

 

Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) 

42 U.S.C. §300j-9(i) 

(i) Discrimination prohibition; filing of complaint; investigation; orders of Secretary; notice and 

hearing; settlements; attorneys' fees; judicial review; filing of petition; procedural requirements; 

stay of orders; exclusiveness of remedy; civil actions for enforcement of orders; appropriate 

relief; mandamus proceedings; prohibition inapplicable to undirected but deliberate violations. 

(1) No employer may discharge any employee or other-wise discriminate against any employee 

with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because the 

employee (or any person acting pursuant to a request of the employee) has-  

(A) commenced, caused to be commenced, or is about to commence or cause to be commenced 

a proceeding under this title [42 USCS §300f et seq.] or a proceeding for the administration or 

enforcement of drinking water regulations or underground injection control programs of a State, 

(B) testified or is about to testify in any such proceeding or 

(C) assisted or participated or is about to assist or participate in any manner in such a proceeding 

or in any other action to carry out the purposes of this title [42 USCS §300f et seq.]. 

(2) 

(A) Any employee who believes that he has been discharged or otherwise discriminated against 

by any person in violation of paragraph (1) may, within 30 days after such violation occurs, file 

(or have any person file on his behalf) a complaint with the Secretary of Labor (hereinafter in this 

subsection referred to as the "Secretary") alleging such discharge or discrimination. Upon receipt 

of such a complaint, the Secretary shall notify the person named in the complaint of the filing of 

the complaint. 

(B) 

(i) Upon receipt of a complaint filed under subparagraph (A), the Secretary shall conduct an 

investigation of the violation alleged in the complaint. Within 30 days of the receipt of such 

complaint, the Secretary shall complete such investigation and shall notify in writing the 

complainant (and any person acting in his behalf) and the person alleged to have committed 

such violation of the results of the investigation conducted pursuant to this subparagraph. Within 

90 days of the receipt of such complaint the Secretary shall, unless the proceeding on the 

complaint is terminated by the Secretary on the basis of a settlement entered into by the 

Secretary and the person alleged to have committed such violation, issue an order either 

providing the relief prescribed by clause (ii) or denying the complaint. An order of the Secretary 

shall be made on the record after notice and opportunity for agency hearing. The Secretary may 



not enter into a settlement terminating a proceeding on a complaint without the participation and 

consent of the complainant. 

(ii) If in response to a complaint filed under subparagraph (A) the Secretary determines that a 

violation of paragraph (1) has occurred, the Secretary shall order  

(I) the person who committed such violation to take affirmative action to abate the violation, 

(II) such person to reinstate the complainant to his former position together with the 

compensation (including back pay), terms, conditions, and privileges of his employment, 

(III) compensatory damages, and 

(IV) where appropriate, exemplary damages. If such an order is issued, the Secretary, at the 

request of the complainant, shall assess against the person against whom the order is issued a 

sum equal to the aggregate amount of all costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees ) 

reasonably incurred, as determined bv the Secretary, by the complainant for, or in connection 

with, the bringing of the complaint upon which the order was issued. 

(3) 

(A) Any person adversely affected or aggrieved by an order issued under paragraph (2) may 

obtain review of the order in the United States Court of Appeals for the circuit in which the 

violation, with respect to which the order was issued, allegedly occurred. The petition for review 

must be filed within sixty days from the issuance of the Secretary's order. Review shall conform 

to chapter 7 of title 5 of the United States Code [5 USCS §701 et seq.] The commencement of 

proceedings under this subparagraph shall not, unless ordered by the court, operate as a stay of 

the Secretary's order. 

(B) An order of the Secretary with respect to which review could have been obtained under 

subparagraph (A) shall not be subject to judicial review in any criminal or other civil proceedings. 

(4) Whenever a person has failed to comply with an order issued under paragraph (2)(B), the 

Secretary shall file a civil action in the United States District Court for the district in which the 

violation was found to occur to enforce such order. In actions brought under this paragraph, the 

district courts shall have jurisdiction to grant all appropriate relief including, but not limited to, 

injunctive relief, compensatory, and exemplary damages. 

(5) Any nondiscretionary duty imposed by this section is enforceable in mandamus proceeding 

brought under section 1361 of title 28 of the United States Code. 

(6) Paragraph (1) shall not apply with respect to any employee who, acting without direction 

from his employer (or the employer's agent), deliberately causes a violation of any requirement 

of this title [42 USCS §300f et seq.]. 

 

Solid Waste Disposal Act (SWDA) aka Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 

(RCRA) 

42 U.S.C. § 6971. Employee Protection. 



(a) GENERAL. - No person shall fire, or in any other way discriminate against, or cause to be fired 

or discriminated against, any employee or any authorized representative of employees by reason 

of the fact that such employee or representative has filed, instituted, or caused to be filed or 

instituted any proceeding under this Act or under any applicable implementation plan, or has 

testified or is about to testify in any proceeding resulting from the administration or enforcement 

of the provisions of this Act or of any applicable implementation plan. 

(b) REMEDY. - Any employee or a representative of employees, who believe that he has been 

fired or otherwise discriminated against by any person in violation of subsection (a) of this 

section may, within thirty days after such alleged violation occurs, apply to the Secretary of Labor 

for a review of such firing or alleged discrimination. A copy of the application shall be sent to 

such person who shall be the respondent. Upon receipt of such application, the Secretary of 

Labor shall cause such investigation to be made as he deems appropriate. Such investigation 

shall provide an opportunity for a public hearing at the request of any party to such review to 

enable the parties to present information relating to such alleged violation. The parties shall be 

given written notice of the time and place of the hearing at least five days prior to the hearing. 

Any such hearing shall be of record and shall be subject to section 554 of title 5 of the United 

States Code. Upon receiving the report of such investigation, the Secretary of Labor shall make 

findings of fact. If he finds that such violation did occur, he shall issue a decision, incorporating 

an order therein and his findings, requiring the party committing such violation to take such 

affirmative action to abate the violation as the Secretary of Labor deems appropriate, including, 

but not limited to, the rehiring or reinstatement of the employee or representative of employees 

to his former position with compensation. If he finds that there was no such violation, he shall 

issue an order denying the application. Such order issued by the Secretary of Labor under this 

subparagraph shall be subject to judicial review in the same manner as orders and decisions of 

the Administrator or subject to judicial review under this Act. 

(c) COSTS. - Whenever an order is issued under this section to abate such violation, at the 

request of the applicant, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of all costs and expenses 

(including the attorney's fees) as determined by the Secretary of Labor, to have been reasonably 

incurred by the applicant for, or in connection with, the institution and prosecution of such, 

proceedings, shall be assessed against the person committing such violation. 

(d) EXCEPTION. - This section shall have no application to any employee who, acting without 

direction from his employer (or his agent), deliberately violates any requirement of this Act. 

(e) EMPLOYMENT SHIFTS AND LOSS. - The Administrator shall conduct continuing evaluations of 

potential loss or shifts of employment which may result from the administration or enforcement 

of the provisions of this Act and applicable implementation plans, including, where appropriate, 

investigating threatened plant closures or reductions in employment allegedly resulting from such 

administration or enforcement. Any employee who is discharged, or laid off, threatened with 

discharge or layoff, or otherwise discriminated against by any person because of the alleged 

results of such administration or enforcement, or any representative of such employee, may 

request the Administrator to conduct a full investigation of the matter. The Administrator shall 

thereupon investigate the matter and, at the request of any party, shall hold public hearings on 

not less than five days' notice, and shall at such hearings require the parties, including the 

employer involved, to present information relating to the actual or potential effect of such 



administration or enforcement on employment and on any alleged discharge, layoff, or other 

discrimination and the detailed reasons or justification therefore. Any such hearing shall be of 

record and shall be subject to section 554 of title 5 of the United States Code. Upon receiving the 

report of such investigation, the Administrator shall make findings of fact as to the effect of such 

administration or enforcement on employment and on the alleged discharge, layoff, or 

discrimination and shall make such recommendations as he deems appropriate. Such report, 

findings, and recommendations shall be available to the public. Nothing in this subsection shall be 

construed to require or authorize the Administrator or any State to modify or withdraw any 

standard, limitation, or any other requirement of this Act or any applicable implementation plan. 

 

Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) 

15 U.S.C. §2622. Employee protection. 

(a) In general. No employer may discharge any employee or otherwise discriminate against any 

employee with respect to the employee's compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of 

employment because the employee (or any person acting pursuant to a request of the employee) 

has- 

(1) commenced, caused to be commenced, or is about to commence or cause to be commenced 

a proceeding under this Act; 

(2) testified or is about to testify in any such proceeding; or 

(3) assisted or participated or is about to assist or participate in any manner in such a proceeding 

or in any other action to carry out the purposes of this Act. 

(b) Remedy. 

(1) Any employee who believes that the employee has been discharged or otherwise 

discriminated against by any person in violation of subsection (a) of this section may, within 30 

days after such alleged violation occurs, file (or have any person file on the employee's behalf) a 

complaint with the Secretary of Labor (hereinafter in this section referred to as the "Secretary") 

alleging such discharge or discrimination. Upon receipt of such a complaint, the Secretary shall 

notify the person named in the complaint of the filing of the complaint. 

(2) 

(A) Upon receipt of a complaint filed under paragraph (1), the Secretary shall conduct an 

investigation of the violation alleged in the complaint. Within 30 days of the receipt of such 

complaint, the Secretary shall complete such investigation and shall notify in writing the 

complainant (and any person acting on behalf of the complainant) and the person alleged to 

have committed such violation of the results of the investigation conducted pursuant to this 

paragraph. Within ninety days of the receipt of such complaint the Secretary shall, unless the 

proceeding on the complaint is terminated by the Secretary on the basis of a settlement entered 

into by the Secretary and the person alleged to have committed such violation, issue an order 

either providing the relief prescribed by subparagraph (B) or denying the complaint. An order of 

the Secretary shall be made on the record after notice and opportunity for agency hearing. The 



Secretary may not enter into a settlement terminating a proceeding on a complaint without the 

participation and consent of the complainant. 

(B) If in response to a complaint filed under paragraph (1) the Secretary determines that a 

violation of subsection (a) of this section has occurred, the Secretary shall order 

(i) the person who committed such violation to take affirmative action to abate the violation, 

(ii) such person to reinstate the complainant to the complainant's former position together with 

the compensation (including back pay), terms, conditions, and privileges of the complainant's 

employment, 

(iii) compensatory damages, and 

(iv) where appropriate, exemplary damages. If such an order issued, the Secretary, at the 

request of the complainant, shall assess against the person against whom the order is issued a 

sum equal to the aggregate amount of all costs and expenses (including attorney's fees) 

reasonably incurred, as determined by the Secretary, by the complainant for, or in connection 

with, the bringing of the complaint upon which the order was issued. 

(c) Review. 

(1) Any employee or employer adversely affected or aggrieved by an order issued under 

subsection (b) may obtain review of the order in the United States Court of Appeals for the circuit 

in which the violation, with respect to which the order was issued. allegedly occurred. The 

petition for review must be filed within sixty days from the issuance of the Secretary's order. 

Review shall conform to chapter 7 of title 5 of the United States Code [5 USCS §701 et seq.]. 

(2) An order of the Secretary, with respect to which review could have been obtained under 

paragraph (1), shall not be subject to judicial review in any criminal or other civil proceeding. 

(d) Enforcement. Whenever a person has failed to comply with an order issued under subsection 

(b)(2), the Secretary shall file a civil action in the United States district court for the district in 

which the violation was found to occur to enforce such order. In actions brought under this 

subsection, the district courts shall have jurisdiction to grant all appropriate relief, including 

injunctive relief and compensatory and exemplary damages. Civil actions brought under this 

subsection shall be heard and decided expeditiously. 

(e) Exclusion. Subsection (a) of this section shall not apply with respect to any employee who, 

acting without direction from the employee's employer (or any agent of the employer), 

deliberately causes a violation of any requirement of this Act. 

 


